




[image: images]










None but the Dead


LIN ANDERSON


 


 


 


 


 


[image: image]










Contents


1


2


3


4


5


6


7


8


9


10


11


12


13


14


15


16


17


18


19


20


21


22


23


24


25


26


27


28


29


30


31


32


33


34


35


36


37


38


39


40


41


42


43


44


45


46


47


48


49


50


51


52


53


54


55


56


57


58


59


60


Notes and Acknowledgements







   

For DI Bill Mitchell







   

[image: image]







   

None but the dead are left to tell the tale.







   

Music, chatter and laughter spill from the Nissen hut to follow them. Her hand is hot in his as they run, her breath coming in small gasps. Reaching the top of the dune, he jumps down onto the beach. Turns and lifts her.


She is light as a bird in his hands. The smallness of her excites him as he lays her on the white sand. Pushing up her dress he finds the warm smooth skin of her inner thigh.


She halts his hand and anger sparks, though he strives to quench it.


‘You do love me?’ she says, her lovely eyes questioning.


In that moment, he does, as he loves everything he desires.


She releases his hand and offers up her mouth to him. It is soft and sweet and deep.


She smothers a cry as he enters her, and he knows now for definite that he is the first. This excites him even more. He has lost sight of her now, drowning in his own pleasure.


Realizing this, she suddenly shifts, emptying herself of him.


Her cry of ‘No’ is swallowed by his big hand.


‘Yes,’ he says and tries to re-enter.


But she fights. Oh, how she fights. His surprise at that gives her the chance to momentarily escape his clutches.


He cannot allow this.


His anger explodes, like the surge of water through the nearby channel.


When he surfaces it’s still dark, his mouth is thick with whisky, the skin on his bare thighs rubbed raw by grains of sand. She lies beneath him, half buried. Her eyelids are veined blue, the smudged lipstick distorting the shape of her mouth.


Her eyes, which he thought beautiful, are now as glassy-eyed as a dead fish.


He stands up, adjusts his clothes. For a moment he feels pity. Then it becomes annoyance and anger at her for spoiling the moment.


The sand will shift, he thinks. I cannot bury her here.
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He could definitely hear the sound of children’s voices.


Mike threw open the kitchen door. The area which would have served as a playground was empty, the supposed cries of children replaced by the wail of the wind.


He’d read all about the gales that swept these northern isles before he’d decided to move here, and had thought himself immune. After all, he’d been brought up next to the North Sea.


But I didn’t know an Orkney wind.


At this point the object of his thoughts tried to wrestle the door from his hands. Mike stepped back inside and closed it. The summer had been windy, but there had been occasional days when that wind had softened to a breeze and he’d been lulled into a false sense of security as he’d worked on the renovation of the hundred-year-old building.


Wait until winter, had been the most common response from the locals. Mike had smiled each time that had been said, indicating he wasn’t afraid of bad weather. It wasn’t as though the temperature dipped dramatically. Snow was almost unheard of. Frost too. What could be so bad about winter here on the island?


He stood for a moment, listening to the wind whistling through the eaves.


That was what I heard. Not children’s voices.


‘I was a teacher for too long,’ he said out loud as though to convince himself.


Leaving the kitchen area he went to check on the stove, touching the wall behind, feeling the warmth absorbed by the stones. The conversion of the big room that had been the main classroom in the island primary school had created his living space. Open plan, it was his kitchen and sitting room combined. His bedroom was a smaller room off one end, which he thought had been the teacher’s office. All this had been his spring and summertime task. Now autumn was here he was planning to break up the tarred area behind the house and prepare it for his garden, or more properly his vegetable patch, to be ready for next spring.


Mike put the kettle on. It would be dark soon. The nights had drawn in swiftly. That was the other warning he’d had. The long dark nights when day ended by mid-afternoon. That hadn’t worried him either. If he was deep in a book, it didn’t matter if it was night or day. He would read in the dark months of the year and work on his painting during the long summer days. And there were other jobs he could do when the weather was bad. Such as sorting out the loft.


Mike glanced upwards. The rafters above this room were exposed, so no loft here, but the yet-to-be-renovated half of the building, which had been the teacher’s living quarters, had a sizable loft. He’d opened the trapdoor and stuck his head in to take a look. Even fitted a light, but he hadn’t got round to checking the loft space out properly. Maybe now was the time to do that. After all, the digger wasn’t coming to break up the playground until tomorrow.


There were thirteen of them. Placed at regular intervals among the rafters. Finding the first one had excited him. Flower-shaped, the intricately tied greyish strip of muslin resembling a rose – like something fallen from Miss Haversham’s wedding veil. It was obvious by the colour and texture of the material how old it was – as old as the schoolhouse that stood resolute against the winds that stripped bare this northern isle.


Intrigued by one, Mike found himself disturbed by thirteen. All as intricately tied, all distinctively different as though each referred to someone or something unique. He had removed only one from the thick layer of dust and ash that lined the loft, carefully bagged it, and taken it to the tiny island heritage centre.


The curator, Sam Flett, who wasn’t an incomer like himself, had welcomed Mike and asked what he could do for him. When Mike placed the muslin flower in its clear plastic bag on the desk, the result had been unexpected. The weather-beaten face had openly blanched, but worse was to come when Mike attempted to remove the flower from its bag.


‘Don’t handle it,’ Sam had said sharply, causing Mike to let go of the bag in surprise.


Sam, who’d appeared to be avoiding even looking at the flower, had asked, ‘Where did you find it?’


‘In the loft at the schoolhouse.’


‘Then my advice is to put it back,’ he’d said. ‘As soon as possible.’


‘But what is it?’ Mike had asked, apprehensive now.


Sam had hesitated, before saying, ‘On death, the hem of a child’s smock was torn off and fashioned into a magic flower.’


‘Really? Why?’


‘The flower represents the child’s soul.’


Mike had expected him to add of course, that’s just superstitious nonsense. He hadn’t.


‘There are another twelve of them in the loft,’ Mike had told him.


‘Leave them there, and put this one back.’


I didn’t follow his advice.


He hadn’t disturbed the others, but thinking to investigate further, he’d left the single flower in its bag on the kitchen table, where it still sat. After all, he’d reasoned, what harm could a muslin flower do him?


Hugh Clouston was an island man born and bred. Owning the only resident small digger had made him invaluable, a treasured part of the community, and oft required in all weathers. Hence his confident yet relaxed demeanour.


He gave Mike the thumbs-up as the metal teeth finally broke through the compacted surface and the bucket scooped at what lay beneath. The filled shovel rose, then swivelled to the right and released its load.


Low sunlight caught the cargo as it fell, a shower of sandy soil mixed with small stones, and something else – white, solid, shapely.


Mike didn’t register what looked like a bone at first, not properly, but the next scoop brought something he couldn’t ignore. The skull rose and, as the digger turned and the bucket released, it fell earthwards again, landing on top of the mound of displaced earth as though to watch its own grave being excavated.


Hugh, earplugs in place, didn’t hear Mike’s initial shout, nor did he appear to register his frantically waving hands indicating something was wrong. The noise of the digger seemed to rise with Mike’s distress, as though the sudden and obvious presence of death had resulted in a crescendo.


‘Stop!’ Mike screamed.


This time it worked. Hugh emerged from whatever daydream he’d been having. The engine was shut down. Mike dropped his waving arms and pointed at the white object sitting atop the pile of earth and stones.


Hugh Clouston hadn’t seemed perturbed by what he’d unearthed.


‘Orkney’s covered with Neolithic graves, but we’ll have to report it. The Kirkwall police will want to take a look.’


The call to the police station made, Mike watched as the digger and its unfazed driver departed, trundling out of the school gates. Back now in the kitchen he immediately went for the whisky, his hand shaking as he poured himself a glass.


I had no choice, he told himself again. Not with Hugh here.


Now the police would come to Sanday. They’d visit the schoolhouse. Ask him questions. They’d want to know who he was. And why he’d come here.
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Detective Inspector Erling Flett had taken the rather garbled call as he sat in his office contemplating the fallout from the weekend in Kirkwall, which had included a couple of fights in the town centre and a domestic, all three fuelled by alcohol. Orkney wasn’t a hotbed of crime, but it had its problems as all communities do, and consumption of alcohol and its related activities was one of them.


That wasn’t to say that the islands had never featured in high-profile cases. Barely months had passed since mainland Orkney had formed part of a major murder enquiry when a young woman’s body had been discovered in the Ring of Brodgar. Fortunately, the perpetrator had not proved to be local, although the notoriety of what became known as the Stonewarrior case had certainly put Orkney and its Neolithic stone circle even more prominently on the map than it had been before.


Tourists visiting the islands, either by their own volition or via the huge cruise liners regularly docking at Kirkwall, came to view the Neolithic sites, which were plentiful. That particular case, which had become an internet sensation, had merely added a little modern-day spice to Neolithic history.


Erling asked the man to repeat what he’d just said, a little more slowly this time.


‘My name’s Mike Jones. I’m doing up an old schoolhouse on the island of Sanday. I hired Hugh Clouston to break up the ground at the back of the building. He dug up a human skull.’


‘Is Hugh there with you?’


‘He is. Do you want to speak to him?’


Erling indicated he did. Unearthing the past in Orkney was an everyday occurrence and probably something Hugh, who he knew, had met before.


When Hugh came on the line, Erling asked him exactly what had happened.


After Hugh had said his piece, Erling asked, ‘How far down was this?’


‘Maybe three feet below the tar,’ Hugh estimated. ‘I stopped when I brought up the skull. There’s another bone. Maybe a leg bone.’


‘And you’re sure it’s human?’


‘I’d say so. And small.’


‘A child?’ Erling said.


‘Possibly.’


‘Can you secure the area until I can get out to you?’


‘Sure thing. I’ll put a tarpaulin over it.’


Erling asked to speak to Mike again.


‘How long have you been renovating?’


‘Since spring.’


‘Have you found anything else?’


The hesitant silence suggested he might have.


‘Well?’ Erling encouraged him.


‘Nothing in the grounds, no.’


‘Inside the building?’


Another hesitation. ‘I found something in the loft. Strips of old muslin made into flowers. I took one to the museum and Sam Flett urged me to put it back where I’d found it. He was adamant about that.’


‘Did Sam say why?’


‘He said they represented the souls of dead children.’


Erling waited until the other passengers had climbed into the tiny island hopper, then took the last seat nearest the pilot. The woman with the fiddle case, who he recognized as a visiting music teacher, inserted her earplugs. The other passenger looked like a businessman with his briefcase and smart suit.


Dougie, the pilot, started the engine, indicating that earplugs weren’t so much a luxury as a necessity. Particularly if you were island hopping all day like the music teacher. A few moments of loud revving saw them bumping along the tarmac past a ‘proper’-sized plane bound shortly for Edinburgh. In moments they were up, rising into a clear sky like a seagull. From the ground that’s exactly what they would look like.


Like most Orcadians, Erling was familiar with this mode of transport. By far the quickest method of reaching the outer isles, it was wholly dependent on the weather. Mist brought the service to a halt, as did strong winds. Often he’d arrived by plane, only to return by ferry because the weather had changed.


Today the late-October sky was clear, the wind only brisk.


Erling turned his attention to the view.


In truth he never tired or became blasé at this aerial sight of the archipelago he called home. Of the seventy islands, only twenty were inhabited. Sandstone formed their base, which was covered in rich fertile soil, as evidenced by the green pasture below. But mild winters didn’t mean that the cattle for which Orkney was famous wintered outside. Erling knew that well enough. On his father’s farm overlooking Scapa Flow, the kye had been housed in the big byre through the worst of the coarse winter, his job being to feed, water and clean them out. The meat they produced was second to none and world renowned. Meat, cheese and whisky, Orkney’s original exports, supplemented more recently by oil and renewable energy. And now, of course, tourism.


Through the front window he caught sight of one of the huge liners heading out of the harbour north of Kirkwall, specially constructed to accommodate the eighty ships that called annually with 80,000 passengers and 25,000 crew. Kirkwall was now the most popular cruising port in the UK. An economic boon for the islands, but a headache at times for a mainland of only 202 square miles and its 11,000 inhabitants.


The island they were bound for was one of the most northern ones. Its name perfectly described it. As fertile as the mainland, it had by far the best beaches. Erling had spent holidays there as a boy, staying with a distant relative of the same name who he’d called Uncle, and whose cottage overlooked miles of white sand.


His ‘adopted’ uncle, a retired teacher and widower, now spent most of his time at the island museum, the same Sam Flett who had apparently urged Mike Jones to return the magic flower to the schoolhouse loft. Once off the phone with Mike, Erling had given Sam a call. Getting his answering service, he’d left a message to say he would be on the island today, and would try and call in at the museum.


Sam wasn’t one for flights of fancy, so Mike’s story about being warned to put the magic flower, as he’d called it, back in the loft, didn’t sound like Sam Flett. Unless, of course, Sam had merely been teasing a gullible incomer.


As the plane dropped towards the small airfield at Hammerbrake, north of the strip of water called the Peedie Sea, Erling spotted the jeep parked alongside the hut that served as the waiting area. Then they were down and trundling along the hard-core runway. As the step arrived together with the fire safety equipment, Erling was first out to allow the others to escape the confined space behind him.


He exchanged pleasantries with the two fire crew, then headed for the jeep.


Erling was in little doubt that at least half the island would already know why he was here. There had been little point in asking Hugh Clouston to say nothing until he arrived. That would have had less chance of success than asking the tide not to come in. Besides, the more people who knew about the discovery, the more likely he was to acquire information.


The schoolhouse had probably stood there for a century and the police weren’t interested in hundred-year-old remains. His intention was to confirm that they were human remains, then to bring in a team to establish just how old they were. He could have a murder enquiry on his hands, or simply another piece of Orkney’s history to interpret.


Derek Muir, the resident Ranger, greeted him with a firm handshake. Employed to take visitors round all the island sites, he was an authority on the past and the present. He knew everyone, their forefathers, their children and grandchildren. Back in the fifties, Muir had been the most common surname in Orkney, and it still was.


Short in stature, bristle-chinned, his face chiselled from granite, his eyes Viking blue, he could tell a tale, yet also keep his counsel when required.


‘Long time no see.’


‘That’s because you’re all so well behaved in the northern isles,’ Erling countered.


‘Or we police ourselves, with no need for interference from Kirkwall,’ Derek said in his matter-of-fact manner.


Erling settled himself in the passenger seat.


‘So we’re off to view old bones?’ Derek said as he reversed, then turned onto the main road.


‘If that’s what they are,’ Erling said.


En route, he asked a few questions about the new owner of the schoolhouse.


‘Keeps himself very busy with his renovations. Occasionally to be seen in the Kettletoft Hotel. Nice enough chap. Not sure if he’ll survive the winter.’


‘What did he do before coming to Sanday? Do you know?’


‘He was an art teacher. Early retirement, I believe.’


‘Why here?’


Derek shrugged. ‘A house in the south can buy four up here. Fancied a chance to make a new life. Or escape.’


‘Escape?’


‘They all come here to escape something. Even folk from Kirkwall,’ Derek said with a knowing smile. ‘It’s just you can never escape the weather.’


As if on cue, a sudden squall hit the side of the jeep.


‘You won’t be flying back,’ Derek offered.


The schoolhouse looked like the one Erling had spent his primary-school days in. L-shaped, the backbone of it had housed the big classroom where they’d all sat at desks according to age. A second room had served as a dining room and occasional second classroom where the bigger folk went for more grown-up lessons such as maths.


How Erling had envied the older pupils that privilege. He remembered going into the room after such a lesson and finding strange shapes on the blackboard, which seemed to symbolize a world he could not yet access. A world the younger Erling had wished to join as soon as possible.


Eventually he had, and the magic of the world of mathematics had lasted through secondary school in Kirkwall. Even as far as university. That the complexity of life might be depicted symbolically had fascinated him. One thing though had spoiled that concept.


Maths could describe the physical world, but it couldn’t describe a human thought. There was no formula for that. Nor a formula to work out why people made the decisions they did. So he hadn’t become a maths teacher after all, but a police officer. Quite why, he wasn’t sure, although he was certain that he had made the right decision. Both in his profession and the fact that he had chosen to return to his native Orkney to live and work.


His mobile rang as they approached the schoolhouse. Erling glanced at the screen and was pleased to find Rory’s name.


‘Can you talk?’


‘Not really,’ Erling admitted.


‘I’ll be back tonight. Will you be there?’


‘If I get back from Sanday.’


‘I’ll cook us something.’


‘Good,’ Erling said and hung up as Derek swung the jeep in between the old-style school gates and drew up at what had obviously been the main entrance. As Erling climbed out, a figure appeared in the doorway. Tall, sandy-haired, the man looked to be in his forties.


Erling introduced himself. The handclasp was firm and the man kept eye contact.


‘Thank you for coming out, Inspector.’


‘Is Hugh still here?’


‘He had to go to another job. He says to give him a ring if you want him back.’ He gestured that they should enter. ‘It’s quicker if we go through the house.’


Erling followed him inside.


The entrance fed on to a narrow hall. Mike immediately turned left and they were into the big room that Erling remembered from his own schooldays. High rafters, wooden wainscotting, big windows to let in the light. No school desks here, but a comfortable living space and heat radiating from a stove on one wall.


In his classroom there had also been a stove, fed by coal by the pupils. Everyone wanted a seat next to the heat, especially in the dark days of winter. It was worth working hard and getting good marks just to be awarded a desk next to it.


Mike led them out through a door at the rear area of the big room, which also housed his kitchen. Functional, organized, the man had, Erling thought, made a really good job of the conversion. The door open now, Mike ushered them outside, his expression worried by what lay before them.


Erling surveyed the scene.


This, he decided, had definitely been the playground, although the field beyond the fence had probably been used too. In Erling’s schooldays on the Orkney mainland, the pupils hadn’t been permitted to go beyond the perimeter fence. Despite the prospect of punishment, they’d all disobeyed. The fields and, in his case, a neighbouring shoreline were a much more enticing prospect than the confined tarred surface. The secret was always to be back before the bell rang for the end of break.


The tar here was pitted, weeds pushing up through cracks, the surface gradually attempting to return to soil. Several feet from the back door was a mound and what Erling assumed was the hole covered by a tarpaulin, weighted down by four stones. Mike stayed by the door, his expression suggesting he had no wish to view again what lay beneath that cover.


Erling indicated that Derek should free the corner nearest the door and together they set about folding back the tarpaulin. A gust of wind intervened as they lifted it, whipping it like a sail. A swift move on Derek’s part saw it caught and secured behind the mound.


And there it was. The reason for Erling’s visit.


The skull sat atop the loose earth, the empty eye sockets directed towards them. Erling heard an intake of breath as, behind them, Mike Jones revisited that image. It wasn’t the first skull Erling had seen dug up, but the impact was always the same.


He recognized it as human, but was completely unable to picture the owner of the bony structure. From a skull it was impossible to tell if someone’s nose turned up, or if they had tiny delicate ears, or dinner plates sticking out on either side. The area around the eyes was likewise lacking in bony structures, so that feature, the most expressive and individual of a real face, had to be estimated. Something only those artists who would aim to put a face on the skull staring at him now could imagine.


It wasn’t large, nor was it very small.


Beside it lay a bone, which at a guess might have been a shin bone, or maybe an upper arm. Erling wasn’t familiar enough with the human skeleton to say which.


He took a step closer. As he did so, the topsoil shifted a little, sending a small shower of stones into the hole. Erling followed their path down and something caught his eye. Poking out from the soil was a shape that just might be part of a ribcage.


Derek had joined him.


‘How long do you think it’s been here?’ Erling asked him.


‘You’ll have to get in a real expert to tell you that,’ he said honestly.


Mike was standing at the door. The wind, chill now, seemed to meet his tall thin body with force. It was better not to be too tall on these islands. Those closer to the earth were less troubled by the wind.


Erling used his mobile to take a photograph, then pulled over the tarpaulin and secured it, adding another couple of stones.


They re-entered the house in silence.


‘What will happen?’ Mike said, once he’d shut the door.


‘I’ll get a forensic specialist to take a look. Then we should know how old the grave is. If it’s a hundred years or more, the police won’t be interested.’


‘But someone else might?’


‘This entire archipelago is a wonderland for archaeologists. What were your plans for the playground?’


‘Vegetables, but not until spring.’


Erling nodded. ‘Okay, now show me what you found in the loft.’


He had painted the image with a swiftness and sureness of hand he’d never experienced before. The intricacy of the magic flower still astonished him. He’d intended keeping the grey colour of the strip of muslin, but had found shades and hues dropping from his paintbrush. Even now, gazing on his attempts at painting one, Mike wanted to paint them all, although he would have to remove them from the loft to do that. A thought that made him uneasy.


Perhaps I could take photographs of them in situ and work from that.


The policeman’s voice broke into his thoughts.


‘Did you paint this?’ He was observing the canvas with an appreciative eye.


‘Yes,’ Mike said, almost shyly, because he thought it was better work than he’d done for some time. ‘The original is here.’ He lifted the bagged flower from the table and offered it over.


The detective immediately tipped the flower into his hand, causing Mike’s heart to speed up. He didn’t regard himself as superstitious, but since he’d found out what the magic flowers represented, he hadn’t handled them again.


The detective spent some moments examining it before passing it to the Ranger.


‘What do you think?’


Derek whistled between his teeth.


‘I’ve heard of these but never actually seen one.’


‘What is it exactly?’


‘The hem of a muslin smock torn off and made into what was known as a magic flower. The story goes they were fashioned to represent the soul of the child who’d worn the smock.’


The detective looked thoughtful at this explanation, but there appeared no unease at the Ranger’s words.


He checked with Mike. ‘And you said on the phone there were others?’


‘Twelve,’ Mike said, hearing a catch in his throat. ‘In the loft of the unrenovated section.’


‘Thirteen deaths in one school?’ The detective posed this question to the Ranger.


‘The deaths could have been over a long period. Maybe the flowers weren’t all made for pupils at the school. Maybe they were for younger siblings or even for different parishes.’


‘How long has this building been here?’


‘The one-teacher schools were closed in the late forties and the pupils centralized. This building’s been here for at least a century.’


‘What about registering the deaths?’ Erling said.


‘Registration became compulsory on 1 January 1855. Before that, deaths may have been written in old parish records but not necessarily,’ the Ranger explained.


‘Could these have anything to do with what we found out there?’


‘I couldn’t see the children, whoever they were, being buried next to the schoolhouse. More likely they’d be laid to rest in a cemetery or on their own croft ground.’


Mike found himself momentarily relieved by that thought, then realized why he shouldn’t be.


‘Then who’s buried out there?’ he said worriedly.
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The wind that had buffeted the cottage throughout the night had gone, although evidence of it was there on the salt-streaked windows. She’d been wakened by its howl in the dark middle of the night. Lying there in the warm cocoon of her bed, Rhona had watched the rain lash at the dormer window, a defiant moon forcing its way through the dark mass of cloud to gaze down on her as though in sympathy at the onslaught.


Last night, and the three that had gone before, had all brought back sweeping memories of her childhood. This had always been her room. The view to the stars, when they were visible, her window on the heavens. Back then, she’d taken comfort in the knowledge that her parents slept next door and there was nothing to fear from the sound and fury of the elements that beat at the three-foot-thick stone walls, at times as though some mad god wanted to sweep her, her parents and the stones that sheltered them off the face of the earth.


Now all was still, the silence broken only by the soft sound of waves on the nearby shore.


Rhona dressed and, grabbing her jacket, opened the front door and stepped outside.


Her breath caught in her throat as it always did as she took in the sight that lay before her. Some said that the view from the Gaelic college Sabhal Mòr Ostaig on the Sleat peninsula across to Knoydart on the mainland was one of the world’s best.


Rhona was inclined to agree.


At moments like this, the idea that she should move back here and live in the family cottage always resurfaced. As it did when she was particularly stressed by work or emotional relationships. Then the recurring dream of opening this door to see what lay before her now was her brain’s way of escape. But how to be a forensic expert resident on Skye? Rhona smiled at the thought, although her expertise had been required here on at least one occasion, or more particularly on the neighbouring island of Raasay.


Her survey of the bay was rewarded by the sight of two black silky heads bobbing on the surface, observing her.


They’re back.


Rhona made an instant decision. It might be the last time this year she could do this without dying of hypothermia. She went inside, grabbed her wetsuit from where it hung in the back kitchen, stripped off and prepared for her swim.


The whiskered faces observed her with interest as she made her way across the strip of sandy shore. The touch of the water as it seeped into the legs of her wetsuit made her gasp. Determined, she pulled on the hood. Five minutes. No more than ten. After which she would have a very hot shower.


As she stepped deeper, the sand shifted to accommodate her weight, the ripples caused by waves reflected on the surface of the water. Her own image as she determinedly moved deeper was as clear as though she looked in a mirror.


In the hooded wetsuit I look like one of them, although maybe not so plump and thankfully minus the whiskers.


Rhona braced herself, then did a dive, the shock of the cold water on her head seeming momentarily to stop her heart. When she broke surface, gasping, she found the two seals watching her with avid interest. As Rhona approached them in a steady crawl, they parted company, to each take up a place alongside her, as they had done two days ago.


Then began the performance that had characterized their previous encounter. If she stopped, they stopped, and viewed her. If she didn’t immediately begin swimming again, they ducked and dived as though to encourage her, or maybe simply to show off their skills. If she swam away from them, they followed, trying to keep her, it seemed, from going ashore. She was their plaything which they didn’t want to relinquish.


But they had the layers of fat required to survive in a winter sea. She did not.


Ten minutes later, Rhona reluctantly turned and headed for shore. The rule of cold-water swimming was to stop when your skin went from bristling cold to downright painful, and she had now reached that point. She headed swiftly up the beach to the bright-blue kitchen door. By the time she reached it, she was chittering. Getting the wetsuit off with shivering hands was harder than putting it on. Eventually she succeeded and headed for the shower, turning it on at full power and as hot as she could manage without scalding herself. A glance in the mirror over the sink as she stepped in registered blue lips and pale skin.


I look like a mortuary specimen.


This time her gasp was more from pleasure than pain as the hot water met her head and shoulders. As a feeling other than cold took over her body, she laughed.


‘That was great,’ she shouted, as she soaped her tingling skin.


Dressed again, she checked on the fire in the small sitting room to find it had lasted the night banked up by peat. She stirred and replenished it, then set about making breakfast. Back in Glasgow, breakfast would have consisted of a couple of cups of coffee. Once at the lab, she would eat whatever Chrissy, her forensic assistant, had brought in for them, which could be anything from a traditional filled morning roll (egg, sausage, bacon or all three) to a simple croissant. Rhona always accepted whatever was on offer.


Here, things were different. No Chrissy to supply breakfast, no calling out for home delivery or Sean to cook an evening meal. On Skye she had to be self-sufficient. She had to shop and cook.


Rhona set up the frying pan and loaded it with square sausage, tattie scones, a slice of bacon and some mushrooms, then poured herself a coffee to warm her inside as well as out.


Scooping the cooked food onto a plate and slipping it in the oven, she fried two eggs from the supply left at her door by her nearest neighbour, Tam Evans, who had come to Skye from northern England to keep goats and hens.


Fifteen minutes later she had surprised herself by wolfing down everything she had cooked.


Chrissy and Sean would be proud of me.


The fire had re-caught and was bringing a warm glow to the room. It seemed a shame to leave it, but leave it she must. It was a long drive back to Glasgow, and she was keen to set out as soon now as possible. As she began her packing, the room darkened as a sudden squall came in from the west, splattering thick drops of rain on the window. The bay she’d swum in earlier and the distant outline of Knoydart were both shrouded in mist. Her playmates too had gone.


Packed and ready to leave, Rhona fetched her mobile and made a call. With luck she would be back in the city by early afternoon.
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The cat was eyeing him with what McNab decided was a malicious green stare. It stood at the bedroom door, tail upright, the tip swishing the air in what looked like a warning. McNab wasn’t fond of cats in general. This one he positively disliked.


And the feeling is definitely mutual.


Since Freya had brought the cat back to stay at her flat, there was now no avoiding it. Smart, it ignored McNab when Freya was about, lavishing its affection on her, so that it appeared docile and lovable. McNab knew the opposite to be the truth.


He had been the one to find the cat standing guard over the body of its former mistress, Leila Hardy. He had seen the cat defend her remains with the ferocity of a panther. He knew the cat’s past and its true character. He also knew that it didn’t want him around. It had made that quite plain, to McNab at least.


McNab had made a joke of it at first, then declared outright that the cat didn’t like him.


Freya had observed him with those thoughtful eyes, then said, ‘I owe it to Leila to give him a home.’


And she was right. Leila had been a colleague and a fellow Wiccan and she was dead.


McNab decided after that to keep his mouth shut regarding the cat. As long as Freya didn’t invite it into the bedroom with them, he could live with its malevolent presence, although enticing Freya back to his own flat was now the preferable option for their nights together.


McNab turned from the cat as his mobile rang. The name on the screen was Rhona. McNab answered with a smile.


‘Dr MacLeod. Ciamar a tha thu?’


There was a short silence as she digested his attempt at a Gaelic greeting. If she answered him back in the same language he was sunk.


‘I’m fine. Thank you. And yourself?’


‘Okay, although there is currently a large black cat considering whether to launch itself at my throat.’


‘It’s still there?’


‘You bet it is and with no thoughts of leaving.’


‘How’s that working out?’


‘It’s not allowed in the bedroom, when I’m here at least.’


‘You told Freya the reason why?’


‘I did.’


‘And how did she react?’


‘I won’t say she didn’t look intrigued.’


‘But you stood firm?’


‘Stand firm, that’s my motto,’ McNab said.


There was a muffled sound from Rhona’s end, which might have been smothered laughter.


‘You sound happy,’ McNab said.


‘I am.’


‘When is the island idyll over?’


‘I’ll be back early afternoon. Anything happened while I’ve been away?’


‘A drugs bust at Excalibur. A six-car pile-up on the Kingston Bridge. Some trouble at the footie . . . Nothing that would interest you or we’d have called you back.’ He paused. ‘Sean there with you?’ he asked, knowing full well from Chrissy that he wasn’t. Something he took a perverse pleasure in, without wishing to examine the reason why.


‘No.’


‘See you soon then.’


She rang off, leaving McNab wondering what the phone call was really about. The fact that Rhona had contacted him at all was surprising. But he was glad that they were back on speaking terms.


The cat was still sitting in the bedroom doorway as though on sentry duty. The green eyes narrowed as they met his.


It’s putting the evil eye on me, he thought and not for the first time.


The cat, who apparently went by the name of Styx, had been used in Leila Hardy’s sex magick games. Having a big black moggy sitting on your face during sex, its claws raking your shoulder, had apparently been a turn-on for some of Leila’s male companions. Or maybe it had been a turn-on for her.


Last night, when McNab had finally told Freya why he didn’t want the cat in the bedroom with them, she’d seemed intrigued.


‘I’ve never heard of a cat being used in sex magick before,’ she’d said.


Having declared his aversion to the cat’s presence, McNab had then made it obvious he didn’t mind the other Wiccan practices that Freya indulged in during sex.


At that she had led him into the bedroom and closed the door firmly on the cat.


‘So I’m still in charge here,’ McNab told the watching cat.


But for how long?


The cat swished its tail at him, then sprang past to meet Freya as she emerged from the box room that served as her Wiccan temple. McNab watched as his rival used all his feline powers on Freya. Rubbing himself between her legs, miaowing up at her with those green eyes. Freya responded by scooping the cat into her arms and nuzzling it.


McNab would have sworn that the cat grinned at him.


‘Who was on the phone?’ Freya said.


‘Dr MacLeod. She’s headed back from Skye and wondered if anything bad had happened in her absence.’


‘And has it?’


‘I’d better go to work and find out.’


As McNab approached to say his goodbyes, the cat sprang from Freya’s arms with what sounded like a growl. When McNab gave her a long lingering kiss, he heard a distinct hiss from the floor area.


His mobile rang as he exited the main door from Freya’s set of flats.


‘DS McNab here?’


‘Can you get along to . . .’ The caller quoted an address in the East End. ‘The body of an elderly IC1 male reported in flat 1F2.’


‘Suspicious?’


‘We need a detective to tell us that,’ the voice said drily.


McNab swore a retort and hung up, finding himself hoping it was. Not that he welcomed murders per se. Just that murder was more in his line of expertise than a drugs bust at a Glasgow nightclub.


At this time of the morning, he had to join the rest of the commuter traffic snaking its way through central Glasgow. Never patient, he contemplated a blue flashing light, but decided against it. There was nowhere for the traffic queue to get out of his way except to mount the pavement, which was thronged with pedestrians.


McNab made do with tapping the driving wheel and muttering under his breath.


Eventually the traffic thinned and he found himself approaching the red sandstone tenement block of the address. There was a squad car outside and a policeman stood at the entrance to the close, trying to look important.


‘What have you got?’ McNab flashed his ID.


At his arrival, the young constable looked less confident and stuttered a bit in his explanation.


‘The neighbour said he wasn’t answering and he hadn’t been seen for a week. We forced the door and found him sitting in his chair, dead.’


‘How, dead? Like old-age dead?’


‘I couldn’t tell, sir.’


‘Who’s been inside?’


‘Myself and PC Dobson.’ His face flushed red.


‘Where’s Dobson?’ McNab said.


‘She’s on the first landing, guarding the door.’


McNab sprinted the stairs to find a small blonde wearing a determined expression, surrounded by the distinct smell of vomit. McNab didn’t have to look far to find its source.


‘Did you do that?’ he said accusingly.


‘No, sir.’ She looked askance at the accusation.


‘Your partner, then?’


‘He went in first,’ she explained. ‘It was the heat and smell, sir.’


‘He didn’t vomit inside the flat?’ McNab demanded.


‘No, sir.’


McNab indicated she should stand aside, then opened the door. The stink in the close was nothing to what now enveloped him. But the blanket heat and noise was even worse. McNab knew that sound only too well. The song of feasting bluebottles.


He crossed the small hall, following the buzz. The door to the main room stood ajar, but none of the flies were keen to escape. McNab covered his nose and mouth with his sleeve and took a look inside.


The figure sat slumped back in a winged armchair in front of an electric fire with two bars beating out heat. As McNab stepped nearer for a closer look, the blowflies rose like a small threatening cloud, descending almost immediately again to continue their feast.


From where McNab stood, there was no obvious sign of a struggle, no blood, but the smell of defecation, stale urine and decomposition were unmistakable.


McNab retreated to the close where PC Dobson stood resolute, her nostrils pinched shut.


‘Get some fresh air,’ McNab told her.


She couldn’t disguise her relief at the order. ‘Yes, sir.’


McNab pulled out his mobile.
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‘Flypapers and an electronic swatter would be good.’


‘A buzzer?’


‘Definitely,’ McNab said sarcastically.


‘Great.’ Chrissy sounded as though she relished the thought of a swarm of flies.


McNab was aware that Chrissy McInsh, Rhona’s right-hand woman, had a strong stomach. He’d seen her order up a smoked sausage supper midway through examining a burnt-out body in a skip, but he was determined to be clear just how bad it was.


‘There was a heater on full blast,’ he added.


‘Don’t turn it off,’ she ordered.


‘Are you trying to tell me how to do my job?’


‘Wouldn’t dream of it,’ Chrissy said sweetly, and rang off.


The two uniforms were standing either side of the main door like sentries, the bloke studiously avoiding McNab’s eye.


‘Your place is upstairs, officer,’ McNab told him.


PC Williams wasn’t happy about that, but didn’t argue.


When he’d disappeared, McNab addressed his partner. ‘The first one I saw like that, I was sick too, but I made sure I got outside first.’ McNab fished out a fiver. ‘Find the nearest coffee shop and bring me back a double espresso.’


Since he’d cut back on the booze, caffeine had become his drug of choice, and he found himself craving it almost as much as the whisky. Still, it didn’t come with the same hangover. McNab went back upstairs to find PC Williams on duty beside his own vomit, his expression determined. McNab wondered if he planned ever taking another breath.


‘Which neighbour called the station?’


PC Williams nodded in the direction of the one other door on that landing.


‘Name?’


‘Mrs Connelly.’


McNab’s rap was swiftly answered. He displayed his ID to the elderly woman who stood before him.


‘What’s that smell?’ she demanded.


‘Unfortunately my officer has a weak stomach.’


She thought about that for a moment. ‘So Jock’s dead then?’


‘He is. May I come in?’


She stood back and let him pass, then immediately shut the door.


‘How long?’ she said.


‘A while.’ McNab didn’t go into detail.


She shook her head. ‘I was away a week at my son’s place. I checked on Jock the day after I got back, but he didn’t answer. Sometimes he just liked being on his own. Come through, detective,’ she offered.


If next door smelt of decomposition, this flat assaulted his senses with lavender. Whether it was polish or air freshener, McNab had no idea.


Mrs Connelly took him into a kitchen, and offered him a cup of tea. McNab said yes, despite hankering after his coffee. From his experience, people talked more with a cup of tea in their hands.


As she busied herself with kettle and teapot – none of this teabag in a cup nonsense – McNab took in the surroundings.


The phrase, ‘A place for everything and everything in its place’, sprang to mind, much like the flat he’d called home as a child. For some reason, that made him relax, and he sat back in the chair. Even smiled as he was handed his cup and saucer.


‘How did he die?’ she finally asked, after allowing McNab time to savour the brew.


‘We don’t know yet.’


‘He was about ninety, I think. He told me once that he’d been a Bevin Boy during the war. Worked in the mines. The miners called him Jock. That wasn’t his real first name. Drever was his surname though. He came from up north somewhere by his voice.’


‘From the Highlands?’


‘He never said where exactly, but he did talk about collecting seaweed when he was a boy.’


‘Lewis? Harris?’ McNab tried.


Mrs Connelly didn’t look as though she knew where he meant, but continued to ponder, so McNab changed the subject.


‘Did he have any family?’


She shook her head. ‘I don’t think so. At least he never mentioned any.’


‘Was there anything wrong with him?’


She gave him a wry look and McNab suddenly realized there was a twinkle in her eye.


‘Apart from old age, you mean?’


‘Apart from that.’


She gave a little laugh. ‘He never talked about it if there was, although the truth is, his mind was wandering a bit. He sometimes called me Ella. I assumed that was his late wife’s name. He showed me a photograph of them once.’ Her eyes misted over. ‘I’ll miss Jock. He was a real gentleman.’ She rose and, taking her cup to the sink, started to wash it.


‘Thanks for contacting us,’ McNab said.


She turned. ‘What’ll happen to him?’


‘We’ll establish how he died.’


‘Who’ll bury him?’


‘Maybe we’ll find a relative,’ McNab offered.


‘If not?’


‘I’ll keep you informed,’ McNab told her.


When McNab emerged, the mess on the landing had been sanitized. PC Williams’s colour was back and his nostrils had re-opened, allowing him the luxury of breathing. He was holding McNab’s double espresso. McNab accepted it and swallowed it down.


‘Forensic’s here, sir,’ he said, indicating a bundle of boiler suits next to the door.


McNab pulled one on and, once encased, re-entered the flat.


Metal treads had been laid in the hall and as he pushed open the door he noted that the buzz of flies had dissipated, suggesting Chrissy had been busy with the fly swat. Entering, he saw she’d also netted a selection, which were now beating themselves against the sides of their individual jars, ready to be sent to entomology to ID, should this prove to be a suspicious death.


Chrissy sensed his entrance and turned.


‘Before you ask, the duty pathologist’s been. It’s not obvious how he died. So you’ll have to wait for the PM.’ She read his disappointed look. ‘What’s up? Life not exciting enough for you?’


Knowing she was referring to Freya, McNab smiled in what he hoped was a self-satisfied manner. ‘I wouldn’t say that.’


Chrissy dismissed him with one of her looks and went back to work.


When McNab had first entered, his focus had been on the body and the smell. Now he checked the room out properly. It had obviously served as the kitchen and Jock’s sleeping quarters, as McNab discovered when he opened a cupboard door and found a recess bed behind it.


The two-room flat, or room and kitchen in Glasgow parlance, was typical of these old tenement blocks. McNab had been brought up in a flat very like this one. They’d also, like Jock, had a bathroom, a luxury in the past, where a shared toilet on the landing had been par for the course.


The furniture in the sitting room was solid, well-crafted and not of this era. It also looked as though the room had rarely been used. There was an air of abandonment that went with the film of dust.


Three framed black-and-white photographs stood on a sideboard. The first was of a group of mixed-age primary children with a female teacher taken outside a stone building. The second image was of a black-faced lad in his teens, outside what looked like a colliery. In the third, Jock was older. Handsome, tall, straight-backed, with a pretty woman on his arm. It looked like a wedding photograph.


A search of the drawers produced a tin box. Inside was a marriage certificate. According to it, Jock’s real name was James Drever. Born in January 1925, he’d married Grace Cummings in Newcastle in 1948. No birth certificates for any children they may have had, but a death certificate for his wife some twenty years before.


So who was Ella?


‘McNab?’


He abandoned his search and answered Chrissy’s call.


‘Take a look at this.’ She eased up the old man’s right trouser leg.


McNab crouched for a closer view. There were pressure marks on the mottled skin that ran round the outside of the thin, veined leg.


‘There’s a matching one on the left leg,’ Chrissy told him, pulling up the neighbouring trouser to let him see. ‘And the arms.’


There was nothing obvious on the bony wrists, but when Chrissy pulled up the sleeves there was visible bruising halfway up each forearm.


McNab had seen such marks before. If rope or tie tags were used they looked like burn marks. Thin wire was worse, slicing through the skin. McNab had a sudden image of what might have happened to the old man prior to his death.


‘Any other injuries?’


‘None visible. Without stripping him, we won’t know,’ Chrissy said. ‘I take it you’ve checked for a break-in?’


‘We’re three floors up. I can’t see anyone climbing in a window, and the uniforms that found him had to break down the door.’


‘If he opened the door to someone, they could easily have pushed their way in.’


‘And his neighbour wasn’t there to hear anything,’ McNab said. ‘Okay, we’ll have the place checked for prints, although there are no signs that the flat’s been searched. The dust next door is evidence of that.’


Chrissy produced a wallet. ‘This was in his back pocket. There’s money still inside and a cashline card.’


‘If it was a robbery they would have had that,’ McNab said, genuinely puzzled.


Old people did get robbed in their own homes. Too many of them. Some were killed for next to no reward. Tying up an old man but not stealing anything was weird.


‘I’d like Rhona’s take on this,’ Chrissy said, matching McNab’s own thoughts exactly.


‘She’s on her way back,’ he told Chrissy.


Her eyes narrowed above the mask.


Before she could ask, McNab told her. ‘She called me from her island idyll this morning.’


‘Really?’


McNab smiled just to annoy her. ‘You mean she didn’t call you, her right-hand woman?’


By Chrissy’s dismissive expression, he had no chance of pissing her off by suggesting he was the favourite.


‘I’ll text her,’ was the response.
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The five hours from Skye had passed in a blur of rain and wind, the majestic scenery she’d enjoyed on her way to the island lost in the downpour. Rhona had been lucky to get across the Skye Bridge, already shut now to high-sided vehicles.


The Minch had seethed below her like a cauldron, the wind whipping at the sides of the car as though in punishment for her leaving. Like life, the Scottish weather could change in an instant, which it did frequently. From an early-morning swim to this, she thought, as she turned her windscreen wipers up a notch.


The radio kept her company, when she could pick up a good enough signal, which was intermittent. Eventually she gave up and resigned herself to trying to make out the road and nursing her own thoughts.


Stopping at one of the few petrol stations to be found en route, she took the opportunity to check her mobile, and found two messages. One from Chrissy saying she’d been called out to a body, the other from the Orkney detective she’d worked with previously, asking her to give him a call.


Intrigued, Rhona did so.


He sounds so like Magnus, was her first thought, as they went through the relevant greetings. Erling Flett had gone to school with criminal psychologist Professor Magnus Pirie and they’d been firm friends too. Both tall, and built like Vikings, Rhona remembered the first time she’d seen the detective waiting for her as she’d arrived by helicopter near the Ring of Brodgar.


When a small silence followed their initial exchange, she said, ‘I’m assuming this isn’t a social call?’


‘No,’ he admitted. ‘We’ve found something I believe is a speciality of yours.’


‘A buried or concealed body?’


‘A digger working in the grounds of an old schoolhouse unearthed a skull and a long bone. I’ve taken a look in the hole and it’s definitely a grave.’ He paused. ‘I’ve informed the powers that be, so no doubt they’ll be in touch with you officially. I just wanted to give you the heads-up on the find.’


‘Is this somewhere on the mainland?’ Rhona said.


‘No. On one of the most northern isles. Sanday.’


Rhona knew about Sanday. Not because she’d been there, but because a forensic team from Aberdeen-based R2S, Return to Scene, had been involved in the forensic investigation of a murder case some years back on the remote island of around five hundred inhabitants. A love triangle gone wrong, the victim’s body had been buried on one of the many white beaches that Sanday was renowned for.


‘The remains may be too old for Police Scotland to be interested,’ DI Flett added, ‘but . . .’


‘I’d be happy to take a look.’


‘Let me know when you’re coming and I’ll take you out there.’


‘Is there somewhere I can stay on Sanday? Or do I have to travel back and forward to Kirkwall?’ she said, knowing that’s what the R2S team had had to do.


‘We’re out of season now, but I’ll see if I can sort something out.’


Rhona rang off, then gave Chrissy’s mobile a call.


It rang out for a while before Chrissy finally answered. ‘Where are you?’


‘I’ll be back in the lab in the next half hour,’ Rhona told her. ‘How’s the body?’


‘Fancy taking a look?’


The rain had followed her from the west, or alternatively Glasgow had sent its own version to meet her. The city was drenched, as were its inhabitants. The constant beat of the windscreen wipers did little to countermand the downpour. Sitting at another set of traffic lights, Rhona watched the blurred faces of the pedestrians, heads down against the wind, with the entertainment of an odd umbrella deciding it had a mind of its own.


Alongside her now weren’t the choppy waters of the Minch, but the fast-flowing waters of the River Clyde, swollen with the rain that had obviously been falling heavily in its catchment area.


Despite this, her mood on re-entering the city had been upbeat. First DI Flett with his Orkney burial, now Chrissy wanting her opinion on another body had lifted her spirits. Holidays were all well and good, but, she decided, you only realized how much you enjoyed your work when you were away from it for a while.


Rhona smiled as a brolly detached itself from its owner and set off along the street. The young woman made no attempt to follow, mouthing what looked like, ‘Fuck off, then,’ instead.


Ten minutes later Rhona drew up outside a tenement block with a broken downpipe that was turning the front of the building into a mini waterfall. Three vehicles were parked outside. A patrol car, Chrissy’s van and what looked like McNab’s car.


An officer stood just inside the open doorway, sheltering from the rain and the leaking pipe. The young woman checked her ID and let her pass. Heading up the stairs, Rhona found a male officer manning the door with a supply of suits.


Kitted up, Rhona went inside.


The smell of decomposition and all the other odours that accompanied death were there, except the tell-tale metallic scent of blood. So whatever had happened here, it hadn’t been a bloodbath.


Entering the flat was like stepping back in time. Linoleum flooring in the hall, with faded floral wallpaper. There were three doors off suggesting the layout of a typical room and kitchen, with a small bathroom.


Hearing movement behind one of the doors, Rhona pushed it open.


There were two suits in the room. One dusting for prints, the other definitely Chrissy.


Rhona stood for a moment surveying the scene.


This room too had an old-world feel to it. A central rug lay over linoleum that must have been put down half a century ago. Two winged-back chairs faced an old-fashioned two-barred electric fire. The room was overly warm, although the fire was turned off.


The body sat in the furthest-away armchair. The elderly man was dressed in a shirt and knitted cardigan with leather buttons, and wore plain trousers. On his feet were dark socks and well-worn checked slippers. His hands were open, sitting side by side on his lap.


Flies had obviously been feasting in the heat, more of them than she would have expected at this time of year. Blowflies were the insect family most associated with dead bodies because of their acute sense of smell – they could pick up the scent of blood at a hundred metres. The scent of decomposition brought them too, and they colonized a body more swiftly than any other insect form.


You couldn’t hide blood or a body from blowflies, however hard you might try.


Chrissy had registered her, but had chosen not to interrupt Rhona’s train of thought.


Rhona now approached the body and attempted to look on it with fresh eyes, aware that Chrissy thought something ‘wasn’t right’.


An elderly man dying in his armchair next to the fire wasn’t unusual, perhaps even a good and peaceful way to go. So why wasn’t her assistant happy? Chrissy, aware of Rhona’s intention, motioned that she was heading out for something to eat and she would leave Rhona to it.


Which was just what Rhona wanted.


‘You’re going where?’


‘Sanday,’ Rhona repeated.


‘It’s one of the Orkney islands,’ McNab offered knowledgeably. ‘With lots of beaches.’


Chrissy turned on him. ‘How do you know that?’


McNab merely raised an eyebrow and drank down the rest of his espresso.


After her brief examination of the body and scene, Rhona had located the two of them in the nearest cafe, enjoying filled rolls. Rhona had ordered up one for herself, which she’d then attacked with gusto. The mug of tea that went with it was definitely builders’-brew strength, but hot and surprisingly delicious.


Eventually Chrissy could wait no longer on Rhona’s findings and had asked her outright.


‘The wounds on his legs and arms suggest he was restrained before his death,’ Rhona had said. ‘I’d be interested to see if there are marks elsewhere.’


At that point Chrissy had thrown McNab a look of triumph, so she obviously agreed.


‘So someone duffed up the old boy. Maybe even caused his death?’ McNab had said.


‘We won’t know how he died until the post-mortem,’ Rhona had reminded him. ‘But he was restrained with some force. By the nature of the marks, I’d say rope was used.’


‘I picked up what might be a rope fibre from his sock,’ Chrissy had intervened.


‘Once we have full access to his clothing, we’ll know more.’ Rhona had turned to McNab. ‘The place looks undisturbed, especially the other room. The dust layer was untouched apart from round one drawer.’


‘That was me,’ McNab had said. ‘I found a marriage certificate and a death certificate inside for his wife.’


‘Nothing was taken as far as you know?’


‘Not even his wallet,’ Chrissy had said.


‘Which doesn’t suggest the motive was robbery.’


It was in the brief silence that followed their discussion that Rhona had chosen to spring her news about going to Sanday.


‘So you’re off on a jolly,’ Chrissy said with a haughty look.


Her forensic assistant might be a gallous Glaswegian lassie, but she had a wardrobe full of regal looks to select from in such circumstances.


Rhona tried to keep her face straight as she answered. ‘I thought you might like to come with me.’


Whatever Chrissy had been expecting in reply, it hadn’t been that.


The look dissolved. ‘Really?’


‘We’ll excavate quicker with the two of us.’


‘What about Jock?’


‘You’ve processed the scene. It’s up to the pathologist and DS McNab to find out what happened to him.’


Chrissy was definitely warming to the idea. Rhona watched as McNab registered that he alone wasn’t going on this jolly.


‘It’s very windy up there, especially at this time of year,’ he said in a discouraging fashion.


‘I bet there’s a nearby pub with live music and handsome farmers.’ Chrissy smiled at the thought.


‘The forensic tent won’t stay up,’ McNab warned.


‘You don’t like the countryside, remember?’


By his expression McNab was torn between imagining he was missing out on something in tandem with the fact that he disliked anything more rural than a Glasgow park. He shrugged as though he didn’t care.


‘So when do you two head off?’


‘First thing tomorrow,’ Rhona said.


Chrissy suddenly thought of something. ‘How exactly do we get there?’


‘That all depends on the weather.’
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